FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 5/24/2024 2:45 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/28/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Case #: 1031114

Court of Appeals No. 38892-1-III

No. ____

SUPREME COURT OF STATE OF WASHINGTON

BARBARA ANDERSON and ROD BATTON, and each of them, INDIVIDUALLY, and BARBARA ANDERSON and ROD BATTON as Co-Personal Representatives of the Estate of Derek Batton,

Respondents/Cross-appellants,

٧.

GRANT COUNTY, WASHINGTON,

Petitioner/Appellant/Cross-respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Attorneys for Petitioner

MASTERS LAW GROUP, P.L.L.C.
Kenneth W. Masters, WSB 22278
Shelby R. Frost Lemmel, WSB 33099
Mail: 321 High School Road NE, D-3 #362

INTRODUCTION

While incarcerated in the Grant County Jail, Derek Batton voluntarily ingested heroin and died from an overdose. His Estate does not disagree that his actions were voluntary, that they amount to a felony, and that they are a proximate cause of his death. Yet in a published decision, the Court of Appeals Division III held that Grant County is not entitled the statutory protection of the felony bar, RCW 4.24.420, because Batton was incarcerated.

This decision is an unprecedented, unwarranted, and even dangerous expansion of this Court's decision in *Gregoire v. City of Oak Harbor*, *infra*, rejecting the defense of implied primary assumption of the risk in the case of inmate suicide. It violates the Separation of Powers doctrine by invading the Legislature's prerogative to set policy in our State. For these same reasons, the appellate court erred in prohibiting the intoxication defense too.

This Court should accept review and reverse.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This Court held in *Gregoire v. City of Oak Harbor*, a plurality opinion, that the defense of implied primary assumption of risk does not apply in cases of inmate suicide and that the defense of contributory negligence may apply unless the jail affirmatively assumes the inmate's duty of self-care. 170 Wn.2d 628, 244 P.3d 924 (2010). This Court subsequently distinguished *Gregoire* as a rare exception to the general rule of contributory negligence. *Hendrickson v. Moses Lake School District*, 192 Wn.2d 269, 428 P.3d 1197 (2018). Neither addresses the felony bar, RCW 4.24.420, and neither addresses the intoxication defense, RCW 5.40.060.

Did the appellate court err in holding that *Gregoire* probits application of the felony bar when the felony at issue occurs in jail? Does this holding conflict with *Gregoire* and *Hendrickson*, and raise a question of

substantial public interest this Court should determine? RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4).

Does this holding violate the Separation of Powers doctrine, where the Legislature, which is entitled to establish policy in our State, has placed only one limitation on the application of the felony bar for actions arising out of law enforcement activity? RAP 13.4(b)(3).

For the same reasons, should this Court review and reverse the appellate court's ban on the intoxication defense in jail settings?

Does this appeal present questions of substantial public interest that this Court should determine? RAP 13.4(b)(4).

FACTS RELEVANT TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

A. The facts are not seriously disputed.

The parties agree that the facts are "not seriously disputed." CP 74. Appellants' adult son, Derek Batton, was arrested and booked into Grant County Jail on August 10, 2018. *Anderson v. Grant County*, No. 38892-I-III at 4 (November 28, 2023), attached as App. A. Jordan Tebow was booked into Grant County Jail the next day. *Anderson* at 4. Although Tebow had an "extensive" history with the Sheriff's Office that would have permitted the County to strip search him, it did not do so. *Id*. Tebow smuggled heroin into the jail. *Id*.

Tebow, who was assigned to a cell with Batton, offered him heroin. *Id.* Batton accepted and was captured on video snorting heroin in the late evening of August 11. *Id.* He was found dead in his cell the next day around 10:45 a.m. *Id.* The cause of death was "[a]cute morphine intoxication (likely heroin)." *Id.* (quoting CP 3).

Batton's parents sued Grant County, alleging negligence in inadequately searching Tebow, detecting heroin in Batton's cell, and providing care. *Anderson* at 5. The County sought summary judgment dismissal under the felony bar defense, Former RCW 4.24.420 (1987):

It is a complete defense to any action for damages for personal injury or wrongful death that the person injured or killed was engaged in the commission of a felony at the time of the occurrence causing the injury or death and the felony was a proximate cause of the injury or death. However, nothing in this section shall affect a right of action under 42 U.S.C. Sec. 1983.

The Legislature later amended this statute, creating an exception for actions "arising out of law enforcement activities" in RCW 4.24.420(2) (2021):

In an action arising out of law enforcement activities resulting in personal injury or death, it is a complete defense to the action that the finder of fact has determined beyond a reasonable doubt that the person injured or killed was engaged in the commission of a felony at the time of the occurrence causing the injury or death, the commission of which was a proximate cause of the injury or death.

The County asked the court to apply the 1987 version of the statute, while the Estate argued that both statutes were inapplicable here. *Anderson* at 6. The appellate court did not reach whether these amendments apply retroactively.

Alternatively, if the court were to deny its motion under RCW 4.24.420, the County also raised the intoxication defense under RCW 5.40.060:

... [I]t is a complete defense to an action for damages for personal injury or wrongful death that the person injured or killed was under the influence of intoxicating liquor or any drug at the time of the occurrence causing the injury or death and that such condition was a proximate cause of the injury or death and the trier of fact finds such person to have been more than fifty percent at fault.

Anderson at 5-7. The County argued that Batton was under the influence at the time of his death and that his intoxication was a proximate cause, but conceded that questions of fact remained as to whether Batton was more than 50% at fault. *Id.*

The trial court denied the County's motion, ruling that the 2021 amendments to RCW 4.24.420 applied and that a trier of fact must determine whether the felony defense

was applicable at all and, if so, whether the County could meet the beyond-a-reasonable-doubt threshold. *Id.* at 7 (citing CP 184). On the County's motion for clarification, the court permitted the intoxication defense. *Id.* (citing CP 222). The court also granted the parties' joint motion for certification under RAP 2.3(b)(4). *Id.* at 7.

The appellate court granted the parties' joint motion for discretionary review on three issues:

- (1) whether RCW 4.24.420 applies in this case;
- (2) if it applies, whether the 2021 statutory amendments apply; and
- (3) whether the law, as enunciated in the Supreme Court's holding in *Gregoire* [supra] (plurality opinion), precludes application of RCW 5.40.060.

Anderson at 2, 7-8. Neither the order on certification nor the ruling granting review addressed whether **Gregoire** applies to RCW 4.24.420.

B. The appellate decision broadly expanded the scope of discretionary review, misstated the County's arguments, and misinterpreted this Court's precedents.

After briefing and oral argument, the appellate court announced in its decision that it had "broadened its review," holding "that the special relationship between the County and Mr. Batton precludes the County from asserting the complete defense of immunity under RCW 4.24.420 and comparative fault under RCW 5.40.060."

Anderson at 2. Having so held, the Court declined to reach the first and second questions. *Id*.

In addressing *Gregoire*'s application to the felony defense, RCW 4.24.420, the appellate court began with the unsupported assertion that the felony defense is "predicated on an assumption of the risk." *Id.* at 14. The appellate court then recast the County's claim as "Batton assumed the risk that led to his death when he unlawfully possessed a controlled substance while incarcerated (in

violation of RCW 9.94.041(2))." *Id.* at 14-15. Having thus misstated both the felony bar statute and the County's claim, the appellate court quickly determined that *Gregoire* controlled. *Id.* at 15.

As to the intoxication defense, RCW 5.40.060, the court held that the County's knowledge that drugs may come into the jail made its "duty to ensure health, welfare, and safety' of inmates ... particularly acute." *Id.* at 16-17 (quoting *Gregoire*, 170 Wn.2d at 635). Thus, the court held, "public policy" precluded the County from asserting the intoxication defense. *Anderson* at 17.

The County moved for reconsideration, arguing (in addition to the merits) that the appellate court erred in considering *Gregoire*'s application to RCW 4.24.420, which had not been accepted for review or briefed. The appellate court denied reconsideration on April 15, 2024.

REASONS THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW

- A. The appellate decision unreasonably expands this Court's *Gregoire* decision to eliminate the statutory felony-bar defense in jails and prisons.
 - 1. Gregoire simply does not apply to the facts of this case. RAP 13.4(b)(1) & (4).

In *Gregoire*, this Court addressed whether the defenses of assumption of risk and contributory negligence applied in the context of inmate suicide. 170 Wn. 2d at 631. Shortly after his arrest, Edward Gregoire "displayed a range of unstable behavior, including thrashing violently, tussling with officers, crying, making irrational statements, and asking officers to shoot him." *Id.* at 630-632. Once at the Oak Harbor jail, police removed Gregoire's restraints, placing him in a regular cell without any mental health screening and ignoring him as he sat there crying. *Id.* at 631-32. He died by suicide approximately 30 minutes after being incarcerated. *Id.* at 632.

Gregoire's estate sued, asserting among other things wrongful death and negligence surrounding Gregoire's

death. *Id.* at 631, 633. Over objection, the trial court gave multiple jury instructions on implied primary assumption of risk and contributory negligence.¹ *Id.* at 637-39.

In a fractured opinion, Justice Sanders (joined by Justices C. Johnson, Chambers, and Stephens) concluded that the County could not, in the context of inmate suicide, assert implied primary assumption of risk as a complete defense, noting a judicial reluctance "to allow jailers charged with a public duty to shed it through a prisoner's purported implied consent to assume a risk, especially in a context where jailers exert complete control over inmates." *Id.* at 638. The plurality takes issue with "the implied nature of the purported assumption of risk [finding it] markedly inappropriate," in the context of inmate suicide. *Id.*

_

¹ While the court used "contributory negligence" for consistency, it noted that the Legislature had abolished contributory negligence in favor of comparative fault. *Id.* at 633 n.1.

As to contributory negligence, the plurality states that "[o]nce a jailer forms a special relationship with an inmate, contributory negligence cannot excuse the jailer's duty to protect the inmate, even from self-inflicted harm." *Id.* at 640. Here too, the plurality found assigning fault inconsistent with the jail's duty and the act of suicide. *Id.*

In a concurring/dissenting opinion, Justice Madsen (joined by Justices Owens and J. Johnson) wrote separately to express agreement with the plurality's analysis of assumption of risk, but disagreement with its analysis of contributory negligence. *Id.* at 645. The concurrence explained that a jail has no "freestanding duty to prevent inmate self-inflicted harm" and that such a duty would arise only when expressly imposed by law or assumed by the jail. *Id.* Thus, contributory negligence would be an appropriate defense unless "the jail assumed the inmate's duty of self-care" *Id.* The concurrence notes too that the duty flowing from a special relationship

includes the duty to protect from "negligent self-inflicted harm," but not from "intentional self-inflicted harm." *Id.* at 647. Under Washington law, suicide fell into the latter category. *Id.*

Lacking a single majority opinion, the holding in **Gregoire** ""may be viewed as that position taken by those Members who concurred in the judgments on the narrowest grounds"": (1) Justice Sanders' opinion that a jail's special relationship with inmates precludes the assumption of risk defense; and (2) Justice Madsen's opinion that a jail may assert contributory negligence unless it assumes the inmate's duty of self-care. See **Anderson** at 12 n.5 (quoting **State v. Hickman**, 157 Wn. App. 767, 774, 238 P.3d 1240 (2010) (quoting *Marks v. United States*, 430 U.S. 188, 193, 97 S. Ct. 990, 51 L. Ed. 2d 260 (1977))). That is, Gregoire itself does not necessarily prevent a jail from asserting contributory negligence.

According to the appellate court, it is not *Gregoire*, but this Court's subsequent decision in *Hendrickson*, that leads to an absolute prohibition on the felony defense in a jail setting. *Anderson* at 13-14 (citing 192 Wn.2d 269). In *Hendrickson*, a student sued Moses Lake School District after suffering an injury while operating a saw during a shop class. 192 Wn.2d at 271. The jury returned a defense verdict, finding that the plaintiffs' own negligence caused her injury. *Id*.

This Court held that the District owed the student a duty of ordinary care, not a heightened duty. *Id.* at 274-78. The Court held too that the District was allowed to assert contributory negligence, holding that it is the "default rule" under the 1986 Tort Reform Act. *Id.* at 284-87. The Court then distinguished the "few situations" where contributory negligence is not permitted: (1) a school district may not assert contributory negligence against a student who was sexually abused by a teacher (*Christensen v. Royal Sch.*

Dist. No. 160, 156 Wn.2d 62, 70-71, 124 P.3d 283 (2005)); and (2) **Gregoire**:

We also held that a prison may not assert a defense of contributory negligence in situations of inmate suicide. *Gregoire*, 170 Wn.2d at 631. We reasoned that "the injury-producing act—here, the suicide—is the very condition for which the duty [to protect the inmate] is imposed." *Id.* at 641. Thus, any instruction on an inmate's contributory negligence would absolve a prison of its duty to protect that inmate from injuring him-or herself. *Id.* at 643-44. This de facto immunization from liability for inmate suicide was "unsupportable from a policy perspective."

Hendrickson, 192 Wn.2d at 285-86.

The appellate opinion overstates (and oversimplifies)

Hendrickson in stating that this Court "explicitly adopted

Justice Sanders' view of contributory negligence in the

context of self-harm." Anderson at 14. Hendrickson

distinguished Gregoire as one of two circumstances where

² This is incorrect. As addressed above, while the plurality said the jail could not assert contributory negligence, its opinion did not garner a majority. Rather, Justice Madsen's opinion that a jail could assert contributory negligence unless it assumed the inmate's duty of self-care is the Court's holding on contributory negligence.

the "default rule" of contributory negligence did not apply. 192 Wn.2d at 284-86. *Hendrickson* did not refer to "self-harm," but specifically to "situations of inmate suicide." *Compare Anderson* at 14 *with* 192 Wn.2d at 285. It emphasized that contributory negligence in situations of "inmate suicide was 'unsupportable from a policy perspective." *Id.* at 286 (quoting *Gregoire*, 170 Wn.2d at 643-44).

Simply stated, *Gregoire* does not ban contributory negligence in a jail setting, so it cannot support the appellate court's ban on the felony defense in a jail setting. *Hendrickson* does not extend *Gregoire*, but rather limits it to a rare exception to the default rule that contributory negligence applies. In misconstruing *Hendrickson* to expand *Gregoire*, the appellate decision conflicts with *Hendrickson*. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

RAP 13.4(b)(4) provides an additional basis for review. The fractured *Gregoire* opinion is confusing at

best. This is not remedied by *Hendrickson*, which distinguishes *Gregoire*, but also seems to mistake the plurality decision for a majority. The appellate decision adds to this confusion by overstating and oversimplifying *Hendrickson*'s treatment of *Gregoire*. This Court should accept review to clarify this area of the law.

2. Gregoire does not preclude application of the statutory felony-bar defense, which is based not on assumption of risk, but on the applicable mens rea. RAP 13.4(b)(1) & (2).

The Estate concedes that Batton died from a "drug overdose" caused by ingesting heroin he possessed in jail:

Plaintiffs completely agree and stipulate that defendant is correct: Jordan Tebow smuggled drugs into the jail; gave/sold some to Derek Batton; the drugs were used by Mr. Batton and the drugs caused him to overdose and die.

CP 77 n.2. Batton committed a Class C felony when he possessed or controlled heroin while in jail:

Every person confined in a county or local correctional institution who, without legal authorization, while in the institution ... knowingly possesses or has under his or her control any

narcotic drug or controlled substance, ... is guilty of a Class C felony.

RCW 9.94.041(2). That is the basis of the felony defense.

The appellate court plainly believed it was following *Gregoire*'s "holding" precluding the application of the felony-bar defense here. *Anderson* at 14-15. But it simply assumed — without support or discussion — that the defense was "predicated on an assumption of the risk." *Id.* at 14. That is incorrect — and in direct conflict with *Gregoire*. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

The felony defense is not predicated on implied primary assumption or risk (the type at issue in *Gregoire*), defined as the plaintiff's "consent[] to relieve the defendant of a duty – owed by the defendant to the plaintiff – regarding specific known risks." *Gregoire*, 170 Wn.2d at 636. That defense arises when "the plaintiff (1) had full subjective understanding (2) of the presence and nature of the specific risk, and (3) voluntarily chose to encounter the

risk." 170 Wn.2d at 636 (quoting *Kirk v. Wash. State Univ.*, 109 Wn.2d 448, 453, 746 P.2d 285 (1987)).

The statutory felony-bar defense is not based on the plaintiff's voluntary choice to encounter a known risk, but on his "commission of a felony" that is a proximate cause of the injury or death. RCW 4.24.420(1). To assert the defense, the defendant must prove that the plaintiff formed the requisite *mens rea* for the felony at issue. *Watness v. City of Seattle*, 16 Wn. App. 2d 297, 309, 481 P.3d 570 (2021) (holding that the felony bar rule required the defendant to prove intent, the *mens rea* for assault); *Davis v. King County*, 16 Wn. App. 2d 64, 73-74, 479 P.3d 1181 (2021) (same). Here, the requisite *mens rea* is knowledge. RCW 9.94.041(2).

In short, the appellate opinion assumes what it seeks to prove – that the felony defense is simply a version of assumption of risk, so must be barred by *Gregoire*. *Anderson* at 14-15. This unsupported assertion conflicts

with *Gregoire*'s holding on assumption of risk. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

The appellate decision also conflicts with *Watness* and **Davis**, supra, in prohibiting application of the felony defense in the jail context because it "must account for the fact that both a person with an addiction and one suffering from mental illness may lack the ability to account for all the risks and consequences that follow acts of self-harm." **Anderson** at 16; RAP 13.4(b)(2). If there is a concern that the injured party lacked the capacity to form criminal intent, the solution is to determine whether they committed a felony at all, without which, the felony defense does not apply. *Watness*, 16 Wn. App. 2d at 309; *Davis*, 16 Wn. App. 2d at 73-74. The solution is not to prohibit the statutory felony-bar defense in an entire class of cases.

B. This unwarranted expansion of *Gregoire* is dangerous. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

As addressed above, the appellate opinion takes *Hendrickson*'s distinguishing *Gregoire* as one of two instances where the default rule of contributory negligence does not apply and turns it into a blanket prohibition on the felony-bar defense in jail settings. This unwarranted expansion of *Gregoire* has dangerous consequences, warranting this Court's review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

The appellate analysis is essentially that the County knew drugs could be smuggled into jail and had a duty to protect Batton from foreseeable injuries that could be caused by drug use. *Anderson* at 2-4, 15. It is equally foreseeable that inmates might be injured doing any number of things a County has some duty to prevent to the extent possible, including fighting; verbal, emotional, or sexual abuse or harassment; and escape attempts.

Refusing to apply the statutory felony-bar defense in these circumstances simply makes no sense.

Suppose, for example, that an inmate seriously injures himself while attempting to murder a guard or trying to escape, both felonies. The inmate could perhaps claim that the jail had a duty to prevent his efforts and sue the jail. The jail should be able to assert the felony bar, but *Anderson* suggests it could not. The danger and potential injustice are palpable.

C. The appellate decision violates the Separation of Powers doctrine. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

The appellate decision violates the Separation of Powers doctrine. As noted *supra*, the Legislature chose to make an injured or killed person's "commission of a felony at the time of the occurrence causing the injury or death" "a complete defense to *any* action for damages for personal injury or wrongful death," where "the felony was a proximate cause of the injury or death." RCW 4.24.420

(emphasis added). In 2021, the Legislature imposed a higher burden for proving this "complete defense" in actions "arising out of law enforcement activities resulting in personal injury or death," requiring a factfinder to determine "beyond a reasonable doubt that the person injured or killed was engaged in the commission of a felony at the time of the occurrence causing the injury or death" and that the felony "was a proximate cause of the injury or death." RCW 4.24.420(2) (2021). It is our courts' "obligation to determine and carry out the intent of the legislature." Hale v. Wellpinit Sch. Dist. No. 49, 165 Wn.2d 494, 504, 198 P.3d 1021 (2009) (cleaned up; emphasis added; citations omitted).

As also explained *supra*, this is a *statutory defense*, not "assumption of risk" nor any other common-law doctrine, as the Court of Appeals opined. And while the Legislature expressly heightened the standard for proving the defense in matters arising out of law enforcement

activities, it chose not to do so – nor to *eliminate* this statutory defense – for jails or prisons. The appellate court cannot do so "for" the Legislature.

Rather, the Legislature may "define and change tort law in our state." Morgan v. Johnson, 137 Wn.2d 887, 896, 976 P.2d 619 (1999) (citing *Geschwind v. Flanagan*, 121 Wn.2d 833, 841, 854 P.2d 1061 (1993)). It is also "free to create exceptions to statutes, as well as common law." **Geschwind**, 121 Wn.2d at 841. Determining such legislative policy is well within its purview, not within the jurisdiction of our appellate courts: "The right of a legislative body to exercise its legislative powers will not be invaded by the judicial branch of government." **Brown v. Owen**, 165 Wn.2d 706, 720, 206 P.3d 310 (2009) (cleaned up) (quoting **State ex rel. Gunning v. Odell**, 58 Wn.2d 275, 278, 362 P.2d 254 (1961) (citing Household Fin. **Corp. v. State**, 40 Wn.2d 451, 244 P.2d 260 (1952)), modified, 60 Wn.2d 895, 371 P.2d 632 (1962)).

The Separation of Powers doctrine "is embedded in our constitutional structure." *Gonzales v. Inslee*, 2 Wn.3d 280, 299, 535 P.3d 864 (2023) (citing *Brown*, 165 Wn.2d at 718 (quoting *Carrick v. Locke*, 125 Wn.2d 129, 135, 882 P.2d 173 (1994))). The doctrine "operates to ensure that the fundamental functions of each branch remain *inviolate*." *Gonzales*, 2 Wn.3d at 299 (cleaned up; emphasis added) (quoting *Hale*, 165 Wn.2d at 504 (quoting *Carrick*, 125 Wn.2d at 135)). Where, as here, "the activity of one branch . . . invades the prerogatives of another, it violates the separation of powers." *Id.* (cleaned up; citations omitted).

The doctrine "preserves the constitutional division between the three branches of government and ensures that the activities of one branch do not threaten or invade the prerogatives of another." *Cornelius v. Dep't of Ecology*, 182 Wn.2d 574, 589, 344 P.3d 199 (2015) (cleaned up) (quoting *In re Estate of Hambleton*, 181

Wn.2d 802, 817, 335 P.3d 398 (2014) (quoting *State v. Elmore*, 154 Wn. App. 885, 905, 228 P.3d 760 (2010)); *Zylstra v. Piva*, 85 Wn.2d 743, 750, 539 P.2d 823 (1975)). It thus "is reciprocal." *Hale*, 165 Wn.2d at 506.

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