FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/28/2024 3:56 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

## No. 1031114

\_\_\_\_\_

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

\_\_\_\_\_

BARBARA ANDERSON and ROD BATTON, and each of them, INDIVIDUALLY, and BARBARA ANDERSON and ROD BATTON as Co-Personal Representatives of the Estate of Derek Batton,

Respondents/Cross-Petitioners,

v.

## GRANT COUNTY, WASHINGTON,

Defendants.

## ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

\_\_\_\_\_\_

James R. Dixon, WSBA 18014 Dixon & Cannon, Ltd. 701 N. 36th Street, Suite 420 Seattle, WA 98103 (206) 957-2247 Michael Schwartz, WSBA 11175 Schwartz Law Office, PLLC 321 First Ave. W. Seattle, WA 98119 (206) 340-0990

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

## V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

- 1. Because the appellate court's decision is not in conflict with *Gregoire* and *Hendrickson*, review should not be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(1).
- A. Gregoire v. City of Oak Harbor

In arguing that *Anderson* conflicts with *Gregoire*, the County mischaracterizes the reasoning in both cases. In *Gregoire*, an inmate committed suicide in a jail. The family brought a wrongful death action. The jail asserted that the inmate assumed the risk and was contributorily at fault for hanging himself in his cell. *Id. at 633*. The trial court instructed the jury as to assumption of risk, a complete defense, and contributory

negligence if the jury did not find an assumption of risk.<sup>2</sup> The jury returned a verdict in favor of the jail.

The Supreme Court reversed and remanded for a new trial. The lead opinion written by Justice Sanders found that where the jail has a duty to protect inmates from self-injury, the jail cannot escape that duty by asserting the complete defense that the inmate assumed the risk when he chose to hurt himself. *Id.* at 636-67. "A duty to prevent someone from acting in a particular way logically cannot be defeated by the very action sought to be avoided." *Id. quoting Myers v. County of Lake*, 30 F.3d 847, 853 (7th Cir.1994).

This Court did not stop there, finding that any contributory negligence (comparative fault) was also inappropriate in this setting. The lead opinion explained, "[o]nce a jailer forms a special relationship with an inmate, contributory negligence cannot

<sup>2</sup> The Supreme court explained that although it was using the term "contributory negligence" in the opinion for sake of consistency with the jury instructions, the Court was referring specifically to "comparative fault" as it

now exists under the Tort Reform Act. Gregoire, 170 Wn.2d at 633.

11

excuse the jailer's duty to protect the inmate, even from self-in-flicted harm." Id. at 640 (quoting Hunt v. King County, 4 Wn. App. 14, 22-23, 481 P.2d 593 (1971)) (emphasis added). This Court reasoned that allowing a defense of contributory fault would "gut the duty" to protect "because the injury producing act – here, the suicide – is the very condition for which the duty [to protect] is imposed." Id. at 640-41.

Justice Madsen's concurrence/dissent agreed with the lead opinion as to assumption of risk. Where she parted ways was on comparative fault. Justice Madsen asserted that the out-of-state cases relied on the lead opinion were distinguishable. She described those "comparative fault" cases as more like the complete defense of assumption of risk or Washington's earlier "contributory negligence" statute. For example, Minnesota comparative fault bars recovery if the plaintiff's negligence is greater than the defendant's. *Id.* at 653-54. Justice Madsen explained, "In contrast to Washington's pure comparative fault statute, Minnesota's modified comparative fault increases the likelihood that a

plaintiff's claim would be barred despite a jail's violation of its duty, thus gutting the jail's duty." *Id.* As her opinion makes clear, complete defenses which shield a jail from all liability are inappropriate in this context.

Eight years later in *Hendrickson v. Moses Lake Sch. Dist.*, 192 Wn.2d 269, 285–86, 428 P.3d 1197 (2018), this Court adopted Justice Sanders' lead opinion in identifying jail self-injury cases as one of the few examples of where contributory negligence is inappropriate:

We also held that a prison may not assert a defense of contributory negligence in situations of inmate suicide. Gregoire, 170 Wash.2d at 631, 244 P.3d 924. We reasoned that "the injury-producing act—here, the suicide—is the very condition for which the duty [to protect the inmate] is imposed." Id. at 641, 244 P.3d 924. Thus, any instruction on an inmate's contributory negligence would absolve a prison of its duty to protect that inmate from injuring him- or herself. Id. at 643-44, 244 P.3d 924. This de facto immunization from liability for inmate suicide was "unsupportable from a policy perspective." Id.

Hendrickson, at 285-286 (emphasis added).3

## B. The Felony Defense (RCW 4.24.420)

Gregoire refused to allow the assumption of risk defense. The County argues this prohibition should not apply to the felony defense. The County reasons that the felony defense differs from assumption of risk because the felony defense requires a specific mens rea of knowledge.

This argument misses the point. The evil sought to be avoided in *Gregoire* was a complete defense that bars suit despite a jail's violation of its duty, thus gutting the jail's duty. *See Gregoire*. at 636-67 (lead opinion) and *Id*. at 653-54 (Justice Madsen's opinion). Here, under the County's theory, every time an inmate knowingly possesses drugs in a jail, he will have committed a felony. Because the felony defense is a complete

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The County asserts that this provision only applies to purposeful suicide as opposed to fatal drug overdoses. P4R at 15-16. As *Anderson* noted, however, in a case such as this, the distinction is without real meaning. *Anderson*, at 16. Moreover, the italicized language in the above quote from *Hendrickson* makes clear that this Court was referring to self-harm, whether the death was intentional or otherwise.

defense, the inmate or inmate's family will be barred from suing the jail. This de facto immunization from liability will nullify the jail's duty to take reasonable steps to prevent the flow of drugs into the facility.

The repercussions of releasing the jail from this duty of care are obvious, as evidenced by the letter from Lieutenant Durand to Chief Deputy Kriete asking for funding for a full body scanner to detect drugs. Lieutenant Durand stated: "An inmate death due to overdose would most likely result in hundreds of thousands of dollars in legal fees and costs either imposed by litigation or settlement." CP 114. For better or worse, civil liability is the main way to hold agencies accountable, and the threat of monetary judgment motivates them to toe the line. See Ford v. Trendwest Resorts, Inc., 146 Wn.2d 146, 154, 43 P.3d 1223 (2002) (Tort actions are maintained for a variety of reasons, including the deterrence of wrongful conduct.) By removing that threat, jails are less likely to adhere to their duty of care.

The County makes other unsupported assertions in its petition for review. For example, the County states, "Gregoire does not ban contributory negligence in a jail setting, so it cannot support the appellate court's ban on the felony defense in a jail setting." P4R at 16. But as described above, the felony defense is not based on contributory negligence. It is a complete defense that does not consider the negligence of either party. Nor did Anderson "ban the felony defense in a jail setting." The court's decision simply prevents the use of this defense in drug overdose cases where the jail has not taken reasonable steps to prevent the flow of dangerous drugs into the facility.

Further, the County is wrong in stating that contributory negligence is allowed in a drug overdose case. It is clear from *Gregoire* and *Hendrickson* that contributory negligence has no place where "an inmate's contributory negligence would absolve a prison of its duty to protect that inmate from injuring him- or herself." *Hendrickson* at 285, *citing Gregoire* at 643.

## C. The Intoxication Defense

The intoxication defense is also a complete defense, meaning that if the defense applies, the jail is not liable for its negligence. The jail must take reasonable steps to avoid drugs being introduced into this vulnerable population. Like assumption of risk, the intoxication defense lets the jail avoid liability by pointing to the very action it had a duty to help prevent. If an inmate uses a drug made available by the jail breaching its duty of care, then the use of that drug lets the jail assert the intoxication defense. This is not supportable under *Gregoire* and *Hendrickson*. The *Anderson* decision to disallow this defense in a drug overdose case is not only consistent with the reasoning in *Gregoire*, but also compelled by *Gregoire*.

2. The County has failed to identify an issue of substantial public importance that should be resolved by this Court.

RAP 13.4(b)(4) allows review if the petition "involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." The County asserts that review is needed to

clarify this area of law. But there is nothing here that needs clarification. *Anderson* prohibits the use of two complete defenses in the case of a fatal overdose, as those defenses would eliminate the duty owed to inmates. This ruling is consistent with both the lead opinion and Justice Madsen's concurring opinion in *Gregoire*. It is also supported by this Court's decision in *Hendrickson*. While the County disagrees with *Anderson*, their disagreement does not create an issue of substantial public interest.

In addition to claiming that the issues in *Gregoire* are questions of substantial public interest, the County also argues review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the *Anderson* opinion is "dangerous." To make this argument, the County first mischaracterizes the *Anderson* holding. According to the County, *Anderson* creates "a blanket prohibition on the felonybar defense in jail settings." P4R at 21. This is incorrect, as *Anderson* did not suggest the felony defense never applies in a jail. The appellate court had to determine whether the two defenses could be raised in a drug overdose case in a jail. That is all.

Persisting with this argument, the County asks this Court to imagine a scenario where an inmate is injured while trying to murder a guard. P4R at 22. The County argues that under *Anderson*, the jail could not raise the felony defense, thus creating a dangerous situation whereby inmates may violently attack guards with impunity. But nothing in *Anderson* would compel that result. The County's attempt to conjure an issue of "substantial public importance" to justify review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) is not persuasive.

3. The Court did not violate the separation of powers doctrine when it properly determined that the intoxication defense and felony defense could not be used in this context.

The County argues that courts may not disregard statutory defenses, and that *Anderson's* decision to prohibit two statutory defenses violates the separation of powers doctrine. The County cites to many general cases involving this doctrine but fails to include any cases relating to defenses in a civil suit. More importantly, the County fails to distinguish cases in which this Court has declined to allow statutory defenses. *See e.g.*,

*Christensen v. Royal School Dist No. 160*, 156 Wn.2d 62, 70, 124 P.3d 283 (2005).

"Under the 'Tort Reform Act of 1986,' the trier of fact is required to apportion fault to every person or entity that caused the claimant's damages." *Hendrickson*, at 284-285. By statute, when a jury concludes plaintiff contributed to his or her own injury, the plaintiff's award must be reduced by a proportionate amount. *See* RCW 4.22.005 (comparative fault statute). Although this is a statutory defense, courts may decline to apply this defense when appropriate.

For example, in *Christensen*, this Court concluded the school owed a special duty to students to prevent sexual abuse. Given that special duty, this Court determined that the school district may not assert the statutory defense of contributory negligence when a student is sexually abused by a teacher. *Christensen*, at 70-71. The Court found that the statutory defense would violate public policy. *Id*.

Similarly, in *Hendrickson*, this Court cited to *Gregoire* as another example of where it would violate public policy to allow the statutory defense of contributory negligence in a case of self-harm at the jail. *Hendrickson*, 192 Wn.2d at 285-86.

These decisions show it is up to the courts, not the legislature, to determine whether use of a statutory defense is appropriate in a case. *Anderson* did not violate the separation of powers doctrine when it disallowed the affirmative defenses based on the reasoning in *Gregoire*.

## VI. CONCLUSION

Anderson was correctly decided, and the County has failed to present any legitimate issues requiring review from this Court.

As the County as failed to present grounds for review under RAP 13.4(b), review should be denied.

I certify that this motion contains 3,571 words, in compliance with the Court Rules.